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Derek Tonkin 1 

 

Abstract 

The detailed 2018 Report of the Fact-Finding Mission on Myanmar contains several errors of 

historical fact. Equally misleading are interpretations in the Mission’s Report which are 

clearly prejudiced in favour of narratives hostile to the Myanmar Government. In presenting 

certain events, the Report also ignores materials which invite a different interpretation. To 

what extent these errors of omission and commission can be attributed personally to the 

Members of the Mission themselves is not clear, but these errors seem at the very least to 

reflect on their part a lack of intellectual rigour and curiosity, an inclination to gullibility and a 

readiness to put the worst possible interpretation on events. I analyse eight examples of the 

Report’s hubristic failings in this context. 

                 

                                    

 

In my Op-Ed of 7 December 2019 I sought to show how the detailed Report of the 

Independent International UN Fact-Finding Mission on Myanmar of 17 September 2018 had 

failed to demonstrate the historical objectivity and rigorous intellectual integrity which we all 

expect from an “independent” Mission appointed by the Human Rights Council to establish 

the facts about the recent troubles in Rakhine State.  

In this further Op-Ed I shall concentrate on errors of fact. I shall also seek to show how the 

Mission Report not only misinterpreted important events but presented dubious if not 

spurious evidence in support of its presentation. A main culprit could be the Mission’s 

reliance on biased materials and deliberate disinformation submitted to the Mission. But their 

own prejudices, gullibility and ignorance could also be major factors. I make no comment 

however on the credibility of the many hundreds of individual cases of undoubted crimes 

against humanity presented in the Report which have been passed on to the Independent 

Investigative Mission for Myanmar. 

Misrepresentation of U Thein Sein’s Meeting with Antόnio Guterres in July 2012 

My first concern is with the gratuitous insult to a former Head of State U Thein Sein in 

Paragraphs 712 and 1424 of the Mission Report. They read: 

 

                                                           
1 Derek Tonkin is a retired British diplomat. His final post 1986-89 was Ambassador to Thailand. 

http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Network-Myanmar-OPED-07122109.pdf
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 “712. On 11 July 2012, President Thein Sein held a meeting in Naypyidaw with Mr. Antonio 

 Guterres, then United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. During this meeting, the 

 President referred to ‘illegal migrants’ who ‘sneaked into’ Myanmar and ‘later took the name 

 Rohingya’. He stated that he could not take responsibility for them and that they should either 

 be sent to IDP camps and be supported by UNHCR, or be sent to a third country.1530 A 

 depiction of this nature by Myanmar’s highest official further stigmatised the Rohingya in an 

 already tense climate.”        

1530   V-243 

This alleged reference to illegal immigrants sneaking into Myanmar is repeated in Paragraph 

1424 of the Mission Report in a slightly different version: 

“1424. Statements have been made by some of the most authoritative figures in Myanmar 

society. In July 2012, then President Thein Sein publicly stated, “the last resort to this issue is 

to hand in the Rohingya who sneaked in to UNHCR to stay in the refugee camps”….. 

The facts are that on 11 July 2012 President Thein Sein of Myanmar discussed in Nay Pyi 

Taw with the then UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) Antόnio Guterres, who is 

currently UN Secretary-General, pressing problems in Kayin (Karen), Kachin and Rakhine 

States. Much of their time was devoted to the troubles in Rakhine State.  

The published official Burmese statement on the Meeting 

In a statement (the text in Burmese and an unofficial translation into English may be found at 

Annex A of this article) issued on 12 July 2012 2,  the President’s Office recorded that U 

Thein Sein had explained to the UNHCR the historical background to the arrival in Rakhine 

State of settlers from Bengal during British rule. He said that some had decided to stay 

because it suited them to do so, and that according to Myanmar law their grandchildren, the 

“Third Generation”, were entitled to citizenship. Today, there were those in Rakhine State 

who were descendants of these British-era migrants. But there were others who were illegal 

migrants who had arrived after independence in 1948. These new arrivals called themselves 

“Rohingya”.  Myanmar did not recognise them as a national race. Their presence threatened 

peace and stability. He would like to put these illegal migrants in camps and to ask for the 

UNHCR’s help in resettling them overseas. 

On Page 182 of his latest book, “The Hidden History of Modern Burma”, the writer and 

historian Thant Myint-U has provided his own idiomatic translation: 

                                                           
2 https://web.archive.org/web/20120715042113/http://www.president-office.gov.mm:80/briefing-room/daily-
news/news1061 . The statement in the Burmese language is also reproduced at Annex A with unofficial 
translation.                 

https://web.archive.org/web/20120715042113/http:/www.president-office.gov.mm:80/briefing-room/daily-news/news1061
https://web.archive.org/web/20120715042113/http:/www.president-office.gov.mm:80/briefing-room/daily-news/news1061
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 “During the colonial period, many Bengalis came to Arakan to work. A portion chose to stay. 

 Under Burmese laws, anyone who is a third-generation descendant of these immigrants is 

 entitled to Burmese citizenship. But there are also illegal immigrants who have come since 

 colonial times and who are using the name ‘Rohingya’. Their presence threatens stability. We 

 cannot take responsibility for them. The UN should place them in refugee camps until they 

 can be taken to a third country.” 

Thant Myint-U’s translation is totally consistent with the original text which was published in 

the Burmese language only. 

Mr Guterres was sympathetic to Myanmar’s difficulties, but explained at a press conference 

in Yangon on 12 July 2012 that, as he had told the President, his responsibility as UNHCR 

was to seek to resolve problems concerned with refugees, not with illegal migrants. 

According to the ‘Myanmar Times’ of 16 July 2012 3 Mr Guterres said he was trying to 

explore other possible ways to resolve the crisis.  

 “We have discussed different actions in applying [the] nationality law and in attributing 

 nationality to the people who are entitled to have nationality according to  [the] nationality law 

 and a certain number of other measures and it is in this context that I believe the cooperation 

 between the UNHCR and Myanmar will be very positive.”  

He also noted that:  

 “For the government of Myanmar, this population is designated as the Muslim community or 

 the Bengali Muslim community of north Rakhine State. The government of Myanmar doesn’t 

 use the word Rohingya, which is a word that is used by others … internationally it is a 

 common word. But I think it is important to say that that is not the designation that the 

 government of Myanmar uses for the population.” 

Disingenuous Nature of the Mission Report of the Meeting 

The Mission Report account is disingenuous for several reasons. While it is true that the 

President referred to “illegal migrants”, he made it clear that he was referring only to illegal 

migrants who had entered Arakan after independence in 1948. The average reader of the 

Report might well conclude however that, through the omission of any reference to legal 

Bengali settlers during British rule entitled by statutory right to Burmese citizenship 4, the 

President was referring to all those Arakan Muslims who self-identify as Rohingya. Such a 

                                                           
3 https://www.mmtimes.com/national-news/yangon/395-unhcr-seeks-true-community-reconciliation-in-rakhine-
state.html  
4 Provided for in Article 4(2) of the 1948 Union of Burma Citizenship Act and in the provisions for “associate 
citizenship” in the 1982 Citizenship Law. 

https://www.mmtimes.com/national-news/yangon/395-unhcr-seeks-true-community-reconciliation-in-rakhine-state.html
https://www.mmtimes.com/national-news/yangon/395-unhcr-seeks-true-community-reconciliation-in-rakhine-state.html
https://www.burmalibrary.org/sites/burmalibrary.org/files/obl/docs/UNION_CITIZENSHIP_ACT-1948.htm
https://www.burmalibrary.org/sites/burmalibrary.org/files/obl/docs/Citizenship%20Law.htm
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characterisation was neither made nor intended by the President. The allegation that the 

President had “further stigmatised the Rohingya in an already tense situation” is not fair 

comment. 

The conclusion to which I am drawn is that paragraphs 712 and 1424 of the Mission Report 

denigrated the President without good reason. I do not know whether these paragraphs were 

actually drafted by one of the three appointees to the Mission (Marzuki Darusman - chair; 

Radhika Coomaraswamy and Christopher Sidoti – members), but it was they who approved 

the Report, even if the actual drafting was left to advisers and UN permanent staff. 

The Report generally has been characterised as a campaigning document by Professor 

William Schabas, leading Counsel for Myanmar, who noted in the ICJ court on 11 December 

2019:   

 “With respect, it [the UN Fact-Finding Mission] is campaigning for a case rather than 

 assessing a situation in an objective and impartial manner, and it is indifferent as to factors 

 that tend to prove the contrary.”5 

The rather uncouth and decidedly un-presidential phrase attributed to the President - 

“sneaked into” Myanmar - is nowhere to be found in the presidential statement itself, nor in 

any media reports at the time of what the President reportedly said. There was only one 

presidential statement and no subsequent clarification or expansion. The original Burmese 

text is not in dispute and has been available online ever since it was issued, either on the 

President’s Office website during his tenure of office (though there were sustained periods 

when the website was offline because it had been hacked) or at web.archive.com (the 

Wayback Machine) where it was first “captured” on 15 July 2012 and again on 14 August 

2012, and has been available to the general public ever since.  

The last time I accessed the document on the presidential website was on 15 February 

2015. 6 Thein Sein stepped down as President on 30 March 2016. Thant Myint-U believes, 

as do I, that the President’s remarks “were later taken down from his web-page precisely 

because he had gone further in suggesting citizenship for Muslims in Arakan than any 

government leader had before. It was a potential opening for the UN to work with the new 

government on this now explosive issue. But it was not followed up.” It is true that the news 

item disappeared soon after mid-February 2015 and was not available on the presidential 

website after Thein Sein had stepped down, although several other items from the Thein 

Sein Presidency remained accessible until they were (all) eventually removed as the new 

                                                           
5 https://www.icj-cij.org/files/case-related/178/178-20191211-ORA-01-00-BI.pdf pp 34-35. 
6 The evidence is at http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Thein-Sein-Guterres.pdf  

https://www.icj-cij.org/files/case-related/178/178-20191211-ORA-01-00-BI.pdf
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Thein-Sein-Guterres.pdf


 

5 
 

Presidency weeded all content relating to the old presidency. This is consistent with normal 

international practice e.g. in the United States, where the websites of former presidencies 

are archived, but remain publicly available. In the case of Myanmar, the public archive has 

been the Wayback Machine. 

Lost Translation more than Lost in Translation 

This is not to say that there are no “sneaks” around. The document of comment from 

Rakhine personalities identified at Footnote No. 12 has no fewer than 13 references to 

“sneaking”, 7 to “sneaked” and 2 to “sneak”. Related documents have the odd “snuck” here 

and there. But the prevalence of “sneaks” among Buddhist Rakhine personalities is no good 

reason to attribute them to the President personally. The explanation might be found in the 

document referenced in the Report at Footnote № 5130: “V-243” which we may assume 

contains the source of the words quoted.  

I asked the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) in Geneva in 

December 2019 whether I might have a sight of this document. They are aware that I do not 

think the Report’s presentation on this issue is reliable as there is already on record a 

definitive public statement from the presidential office. But it is not possible to reach any 

conclusion on this matter as OHCHR have declined to provide a copy of this document on 

the grounds of confidentiality. 7 

The authors of the Mission Report might claim that there was some confusion at the time 

about what President Thein Sein had actually said, as there was no official translation. It 

should also be noted that even the Burmese original of the presidential statement did not 

appear in such State dailies as Myanmar Alinn (“Light of Myanmar”) and Kyemon (“The 

Mirror”), as can be checked with the Online Burma Library archive of these publications for 

the whole of July 2012. Unfortunately, international media reported that Thein Sein “had told 

Guterres that the UN should intern all Rohingya and then ship them overseas” 8 Here are 

two samples from the UK press: 

 “President Thein Sein, who has been internationally lauded for spearheading Burma's reform, 

 on Wednesday unsuccessfully requested UN help in resettling abroad nearly one million 

 Rohingya. Critics have likened it to an attempt at mass deportation.” Francis Wade: The 

 Guardian, 13 July 2012 9 

                                                           
7 “The archives of the FFM being confidential, I regret I am not in position to discuss the nature of any of its 

reports’ non-public annexes.” Extract email from Senior Policy Legal Adviser Paul Oertly 16 April 2020. 
8 Thant Myint-U “The Hidden History of Burma” Page 182. 
9 https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/jul/13/burma-humanitarian-crisis-rohingya-arakan  

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/jul/13/burma-humanitarian-crisis-rohingya-arakan
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 “In their talks, President Thein Sein also asked Mr Guterres for UN help to resettle up to 1m  

 Muslim Rohingya either in refugee camps or resettlement in a third country.” Gwen Robinson: 

 Financial Times, 15 July 2012 10 

Those experienced and normally reliable Burma commentators Francis Wade and Gwen 

Robinson had simply got it wrong, like practically everyone else (including I confess myself – 

see later). The President had not asked the UNHCR to resettle up to one million Rohingyas, 

but only those who were post-1948 illegal migrants.  

As Thant Myint-U explains in his latest book: 

 “This [the President’s remarks] wasn’t a statement of universal brotherhood. But neither was it 

 a call to expel all Muslims. Instead, the President was confirming that Muslims were entitled to 

 citizenship, except for those who had illegally entered the country since 1948. In private, 

 Burmese ministers admitted that, at most, some 20 per cent were illegal immigrants.” 11 

There were however three outlets which got it (generally) right. Radio Free Asia (RFA) in 

their Burmese-language Service, translated into English, highlighted on 15 July 2012 12 the 

essence of the presidential statement under a sub-headline “Distinctions”. This was despite 

a seriously misleading headline: “Call to put Rohingya in Refugee Camps”. After this basic 

error, RFA got it more or less right: 

 

 “Distinctions 

 

 “In his statement, Thein Sein outlined the legal distinction between those who came to 

 Burma  before the country’s independence in 1948 - often called ‘Bengalis’ - and  those who 

 came after.  

 

 “In Rakhine state now, there are two distinct generation groups. The first group is 

 those born from the pre-1948 Bengalis. Another generation group, under the name 

 Rohingya, came to Burma later.”  

 

 “He said those who were brought over to Burma during British rule between 1824 and 

 1948 were welcome in the country.  

 

 “ ‘Before 1948, the British brought Bengalis to work on the farms, and since there were 

 ample opportunities to make a living here compared to where they came from, they 

                                                           
10 https://www.ft.com/content/1615ef40-ce70-11e1-9fa7-00144feabdc0 
11 At http://www.networkmyanmar.org/Illegals.html there is a compendium of statements about illegal 
immigration from various sources since 1947. 
12 https://www.rfa.org/english/news/rohingya-07122012185242.html  

https://www.ft.com/content/1615ef40-ce70-11e1-9fa7-00144feabdc0
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/Illegals.html
https://www.rfa.org/english/news/rohingya-07122012185242.html
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 didn’t leave,’ he said.  

 

 “ ‘According to our laws, those descended from [the Bengalis] who came to Burma 

 before 1948, the “Third Generation”, can be considered Burmese citizens,’ he said.   

 

 “He added that current situation involving the Rohingyas living in Rakhine illegally was 

 ‘threatening the country’s stability’." 

 

The second source, which was not available until recently, was a leaked submission dated 

15 October 2013 to the Lower House with several linked documents, following discussions 

among Rakhine representatives and personalities, endorsed by the Speaker of the 

Assembly, Thura Shwe Mann.  One of the recommendations (“c” on page 23) 13 showed that 

the presidential distinction between legal Bengali Muslim residents and illegal migrants had 

been fully understood in Rakhine State. The recommendation reads (uncorrected 

translation): 

 

 “(c) Following the President’s comment when the President met with UNHCR on 11th 

 Sept.2012 at Presidential house, scrutinize strictly illegal Bengalis by 1982 citizenship law. 

 Provide the rights by legal way to the people who are legal and keep the people who are 

 illegal in the refugee camps as international procedure. In this way, the riots happening now 

 will be ceased in short period and the sovereignty of the Union will be secured.” 

 

Provided the scrutiny was fair and impartial, it is difficult to fault this approach in terms of 

logic. The suspicion however must be that the Myanmar authorities would seek to declare 

“illegal migrants” anyone who did not have the documentation providing evidence of family 

roots in Arakan prior to independence in 1948. Very few ever had or today have such 

documentation, though the archives of the authorities in Rakhine State hold much of the 

relevant details from compulsory annual house registrations and the national censuses of 

1953, 1973, 1983 and 2014, if only these detailed archives were to be made available to 

those needing to establish their ancestry. 

 

The third source was the privately-owned Burmese-language “Weekly Eleven” of 12 July 

2012. Nick Cheesman referred to this source in his article published in March 2017 in the 

Journal of Contemporary Asia. 14 He wrote: 

 

 “In mid-2012 then-President U Thein Sein told the visiting head of the United Nations 

                                                           
13 http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/doc-8-translation-of-the-documents-about-rakhine.pdf  
14 http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Nick-Cheesman.pdf  

http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/doc-8-translation-of-the-documents-about-rakhine.pdf
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Nick-Cheesman.pdf
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 (UN) High Commission for Refugees that with regard to people who had fled from 

 recent attacks into Bangladesh his government would ‘take responsibility for our 

 taingyintha, but under no circumstances would accept illegally entering non-taingyintha 

 “Rohingya” ‘.” 

 

I do not have easy access to a copy of this publication, but I think it more than likely, to judge 

from past practice, that the journal stuck closely to the report from the presidential office. The 

words “illegally entering” quoted by Cheesman correctly reflect the latter part of the 

presidential statement. 

 

The UN Fact-Finding Mission Enters the Fray 

 

It was inevitable that the UN Fact-Finding Mission would light on this particular episode. The 

F-FM team had indeed approached me at an early stage to ask whether I might have any 

documents relevant to their enquiries. I made a short submission to them,15 based on four 

original documents which I felt I should draw to the intention of the Mission. There is no 

mention of two of these documents  in the Mission Report (Francis Buchanan’s essay on 

languages published in 1799 16 and an address by the Jamiat-ul-Ulema [Council of Scholars] 

North Arakan of 1948 17); the third was General Ne Win’s Speech of 8 October 1982 on the 

1982 Citizenship Law 18 to which the Mission Report indeed refers; and the fourth document 

was the presidential statement of 12 July 2012 19, in which context I provided a copy of the 

translation into English at Annex A made by an experienced translator in Yangon.  

 

I hoped to ensure that the Mission did not make the same mistake that I too had made 

earlier, for in an article in the Democratic Voice of Burma published on 17 August 2014 20 I 

had written, to my eternal shame: 

 “So did President Thein Sein [refer like General Ne Win to the principle of citizenship for the 

 third generation] when discussing the Rohingya issue with UNHCR Antonio Guterres in July   

 wish to resolve the problem by resettling the entire ‘Rohingya’ population.” 

                                                           
15 http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/UNFact-Finding-Mission-Submission.pdf  
16 http://ww.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Buchanan-1799-London.pdf  
17 http://ww.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/J-U-25-October-1948.pdf  
18 https://www.burmalibrary.org/docs6/Ne_Win's_speech_Oct-1982-Citizenship_Law.pdf  
19 http://ww.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Thein-Sein-Guterres.pdf  
20 http://english.dvb.no/analysis/the-r-word-and-its-ramifications-burma-myanmar-rohingya/43271  

https://www.burmalibrary.org/docs6/Ne_Win's_speech_Oct-1982-Citizenship_Law.pdf
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/UNFact-Finding-Mission-Submission.pdf
http://ww.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Buchanan-1799-London.pdf
http://ww.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/J-U-25-October-1948.pdf
https://www.burmalibrary.org/docs6/Ne_Win's_speech_Oct-1982-Citizenship_Law.pdf
http://ww.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Thein-Sein-Guterres.pdf
http://english.dvb.no/analysis/the-r-word-and-its-ramifications-burma-myanmar-rohingya/43271
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The Mission chose however to support a hostile narrative and completely ignore the official 

record of Thein Sein’s meeting with Antόnio Guterres which remains the only authoritative 

record. 

Further Examples of Bias and Fabrication 

This unjustified denigration of the former President of Myanmar is not an isolated instance of 

the anti-regime bias which permeates the Mission Report. Let me take you on a voyage of 

discovery through some of the more dubious and bizarre attempts in the Report to rewrite 

history. 

A.   Our first port of call is paragraph 84, which concludes: 

 “Before Burma gained independence, General Aung San and a number of ethnic leaders  

 agreed, at the Panglong Conference in 1947, on a constitutional framework that recognised 

 the distinctive identities  of minorities and granted them a high degree of autonomy. The 

 Panglong Agreement has never  been implemented.” 

For those of you who have never read the Agreement, now is your opportunity. It is only 

some 500 words long, and has a brief preamble and nine short clauses. The first four 

clauses concerned the expansion, at Aung San’s recommendation during his talks in London 

in January 1947, of the Governor’s Executive Council, which was effectively the Cabinet-in-

waiting run by Aung San himself. Clause 5 promised full autonomy in internal administration, 

Clause 6 supported the creation of Kachin State. Clause 7 guaranteed democratic rights and 

privileges for citizens of the Frontier Areas. Clauses 8 and 9 concerned financial 

arrangements for the Shans, Kachins and Chins.  

The 13 short operative sentences which comprise this accord hardly merit the description 

“constitutional framework”. In his report of 22 February1947 to the Dominions Office on the 

Agreement, the Governor Sir Hubert Rance observed in paragraph 6: 

 “6. It will be noted that the Panglong Agreement although referring to Frontier Areas 

 apparently as a whole, only mentions the Shans, Kachins and Chins: Representatives from 

 following States and Districts were not present at Panglong: Naga Hills Districts, Southern 

 Chin Hills subdivision of Kanpetlet, Wa States and Kokang, the Salween District, Arakan Hill 

 Tracts, and Karenni States. Future of peoples of these areas will have to be ascertained 

 separately 21 and it cannot be taken for granted that they will accept the Panglong Agreement. 

 The Karens in particular will I think be difficult and possibly will not agree to their interests 

 being looked after by a Shan Counsellor and Kachin and Chin deputy counsellor. I believe 

                                                           
21 The Frontier Areas Committee of Enquiry was appointed to ascertain the views of those not represented in 
Panglong and completed its task within two months, reporting to London and Rangoon on 27 April 1947. 

https://www.burmalibrary.org/sites/burmalibrary.org/files/obl/docs/panglong_agreement.htm
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 that the Karens in Ministerial Burma will take this opportunity of pressing for full authority of 

 separate Karen State to include the Karens of Salween District.” 

Though the Mission Report alleges that the Panglong Agreement “has never been 

implemented”, all the measures recommended came into effect without delay. The preamble 

expresses the belief “that freedom will be more speedily achieved by the Shans, the Kachins 

and the Chins by their immediate co-operation with the Interim Burmese Government”.  

Freedom and independence from the British colonial power were indeed achieved on 4 

January 1948. As for the nine clauses of the accord: the Sawbwa (Ruler) of Mongpawn, Sao 

Hsam Htun,22 was appointed ex officio Counsellor on the Executive Council; Sinwa Nawng 

was elected as Deputy Counsellor by and for the Kachins; and Vum Ko Hau Deputy 

Counsellor by and for the Chins. All three had attended Panglong, the first two were 

signatories of the Agreement and the third could not sign as he was still in government 

service. Kachin State, as well as Karen State, came into effect under the relevant clauses of 

the Constitution agreed later in the year, the financial and administrative autonomy 

recommended for the Shans, Kachins and Chins was incorporated in the Constitution, as 

were the democratic rights and privileges of all citizens in independent Burma. The election 

of Sao Shwe Thaik, the Sawbwa 23 of Yawngwhe, as the first President of the Union of 

Burma personified the successful realisation of the Panglong Agreement - all within a matter 

of ten months. 

When General Ne Win seized power in March 1962, the 1947 Constitution was abolished, 

and this inevitably included some of the arrangements agreed at Panglong and incorporated 

in the Constitution. Articles I to IV about appointments to the Executive Council of course 

lapsed on independence, Kachin State (Article VI) has remained to this day, while equal 

rights for citizens (Article VII) were nominally restored in Article 147 of the 1974 Constitution.  

Administrative and financial autonomy (Articles V, VIII and IX) are today under negotiation. 

The emphasis in current peace talks however is on realising the Spirit of Panglong, not on 

the renegotiation or restoration of any of the provisions of the original agreement which were 

generally achieved or have lapsed. 

As Daw Aung Suu Kyi put it in her speech at Panglong on 12 February 2020, the 73rd 

Anniversary of the Agreement: 

 “Therefore, today, while the Union Government has been making efforts for national 

 reconciliation and peace, the Union Peace Conference-21st Century Panglong conferences 

                                                           
22 Sao Hsam Htun was assassinated along with Aung San and other Cabinet colleagues on 19 July 1947. 
23 Sawbwa is the Burmese version of the Tai Shan “Saopha” which means literally Lord of the Sky”. 

http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/1947Constitution-facsimile-red.pdf
https://www.burmalibrary.org/docs07/1974Constitution.pdf
https://www.globalnewlightofmyanmar.com/to-put-an-end-to-the-armed-conflicts-that-we-have-witnessed-for-over-70-years-we-should-see-what-salutary-lessons-we-can-gain-from-the-bitter-past/
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 have been held, which are the political talks for building the democratic federal union, which 

 has been the dream of all national races. It was named the Union Peace Conference-21st  

 Century Panglong because the long-desired independence was successfully regained 

 through the united spirit of 20th Century Panglong. This we should recall and reflect, and 

 stand united ever again. We all should bring along the united spirit of 20th Century 

 Panglong, and hold talks at 21st Century Panglong in relation with the times and  

 circumstances of the present. Then we shall regain, with our collective strengths, the 

 everlasting peace, which is now as important as our life.”  

 

In short, to say that the Agreement “has never been implemented” is not true. The 

Agreement in any case: 

 “dealt only with broad issues relating to interim arrangements and then only so far as they 

 concerned Shans, Kachins and Chins. The long term issues remain to be dealt with and in my 

 judgement will be more complicated as they will have to cover Karens, Nagas, Was etc. not 

 covered by the Panglong Agreement.” 24 

The essence of Panglong was that Aung San, who as late as 5 February 1947 (and so only 

a week before the accord was signed in Panglong on 12 February 1947) had told the 

Governor’s Executive Council that the “AFPFL were not repeat not now interested in the 

Panglong Conference as in their opinion results were a foregone conclusion” 25, was in the 

event able to do a deal with the Sawbwas, the traditional rulers of the Shan States. 

Everything else was secondary. 

The myths of Panglong, overhyped both nationally and internationally, remain to this day.  

The Report of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights dated 27 January 2020 on the 

Situation of Human Rights in Myanmar 26 tends to perpetuate these myths, for we read 

about: 

 “….the historic 1947 Panglong Agreement, which aimed at establishing a federal union firmly 

 grounded in respect for minority rights and ‘full autonomy in internal administration’. The 

 failure of successive governments to materialize the vision of Panglong has remained a key 

 source of ethnic grievance, and  remains the main challenge to the current peace process.” 

Assessing the importance of the Panglong Agreement in isolation makes little historical 

sense. Equally, and arguably even more important was the Frontier Areas Committee of 

Inquiry (see Footnote № 20) conducted during March and April 1947 to ascertain the wishes 

of all those Frontier Areas minorities who had not been signatories to the Panglong 

                                                           
24 Governor of Burma Sir Hubert Rance telegraphing from Taunggyi on 16 February 1947.  
25 Telegram 6 February 1947 Governor Rance to Lord Pethick-Lawrence IOR: M/4/2853 
26 Advance Unedited Version Document A/HRC/43/18  

https://www.burmalibrary.org/docs14/Frontier_Areas_Committee_of_Enquiry-1947-full.pdf
https://www.burmalibrary.org/docs14/Frontier_Areas_Committee_of_Enquiry-1947-full.pdf
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Agreement. The conclusions of the Report of the Committee of Enquiry 27 include the 

following less than ringing endorsement of federal status for all Frontier Areas minorities, let 

alone for all those minorities, notably Rakhine and Mon, who were formerly independent 

kingdoms in their own right, as well as many Karen, all of whom were part of Ministerial 

Burma or “Burma Proper” and for whom a separate federal state was at the time not an 

option. 

 “The picture that emerges from this welter of evidence is that of a federated Burma, with the 

 federated Shan States and the Kachin Hills as two constituent states and with the Karenni 

 States possibly another, but with Burma proper enlarged by the possible incorporation of the 

 Chin Hills, the probable incorporation of the Salween District and the elimination in respect of 

 many of the Part II Scheduled areas of the political disabilities now suffered by them. These 

 amalgamations should reduce the craziness of the patchwork quilt which the present 

 administration of the Frontier Areas resembles.” 

 

In the event, only the Shan State and Karenni (Kayah) State were to be granted the right of 

secession ten years after independence under the 1947 Constitution (as subsequently 

amended). Karen (Kayin) State and Kachin State were specifically excluded. 

 

It only remains for me to recall that, as already noted in my Op-Ed of 7 December 2019, one 

member of the Fact-Finding Mission, Dr Radhika Coomarasway, told an audience in 

Colombo 28 on 3 May 2018 that Aung San “called the Panglong Conference and negotiated 

with the ethnic minorities, including the Rohingyas, and created the Union of Burma.” Not 

only were the Rohingya not represented at Panglong but Aung San had never heard of 

them; nor too at the time had the Shans, Kachins and Chins; nor anyone else at the 

Conference, including the UK Government representative Arthur Bottomley; nor indeed in 

the whole of Burma. The “Rohingyas” were not yet on anyone’s radar screen. 

 

B.   Our second port of call is paragraph 85 where we read: 

 “Notably, under military rule, the concept of “national races” has gradually become the key 

 criterion for membership in the country’s political community, creating a common “other”. The 

 military regime has constructed eight major ethnic groups (Kachin, Kayah, Karen, Chin, 

 Bamar, Mon, Rakhine and Shan), broken down further into 135 “national races”. There is no 

 scientific basis for this division, which contains both gaps and overlaps.” 

                                                           
27 The full Report of the Committee of Enquiry, published by the Government Printing Office in Rangoon,  runs 
to 214 pages. 
28 Text at https://www.lki.lk/publication/dr-radhika-coomaraswamy-on-myanmar-the-rohingya-refugee-crisis-
roots-of-conflict-and-possibilities-for-the-future/  

http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Network-Myanmar-OPED-07122109.pdf
https://www.irrawaddy.com/factiva/day-myanmar-honored-uk-mp-panglong-efforts.html
https://www.lki.lk/publication/dr-radhika-coomaraswamy-on-myanmar-the-rohingya-refugee-crisis-roots-of-conflict-and-possibilities-for-the-future/
https://www.lki.lk/publication/dr-radhika-coomaraswamy-on-myanmar-the-rohingya-refugee-crisis-roots-of-conflict-and-possibilities-for-the-future/
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It is not true that it was the military who “constructed eight major ethnic groups”. These eight 

groups have existed for centuries.  On independence they were enshrined in paragraph 3.(1) 

of the Union Citizenship Act of 1948 promulgated under U Nu’s civilian administration. The 

(1948) clause reads: 

 “3. (1) For the purposes of section 11 of the Constitution the expression “any of the 

 indigenous races of Burma” shall mean the Arakanese, Burmese, Chin, Kachin, Karen, 

 Kayah, Mon or Shan race and such racial group as has settled in any of the territories 

 included within the Union as their permanent home from a period anterior to 1823 A. D. (1185 

 B.E.).” 

Clause 3 of the 1982 Union Citizenship Act is very similar: 

 “3. Nationals such as the Kachin, Kayah, Karen, Chin, Burman, Mon, Rakhine or Shan and 

 ethnic groups as have settled in any of the territories included within the State as their 

 permanent home from a period anterior to 1185 B.E., 1823 A.D. are Burma citizens.” 

The Mission Report’s strictures on the list of 135 “national races” first published in a 

definitive list only in September 1990 are widely shared, not least within Myanmar. The list 

does however derive ultimately from the ethno-linguistic data used during the British 

administration, but the British classified roughly the same number of ethnicities mainly 

according to linguistic affinity. In his “The Tribes of Burma” published in 1919 the colonial 

administrator Cecil Lowis describes some 162 indigenous “tribal” ethnicities, though he 

excludes from his list the Shan, Burmese, Arakanese and Mon, historical descendants of 

four independent kingdoms. There is no mention of “Rohingya” in any spelling, shape or 

form.  

It is no coincidence that the detailed ethnic tabulation of the population at the time of the 

2014 Census has yet to be published. The authorities are aware of the likely controversy and 

of the extent of criticisms which have already been voiced. The list of 135 is in any case 

likely to be reviewed before the next Census due some time this decade. The 2014 Census 

lists eight “main ethnic groups” and provides codes for every “ethnic group” listed under the 

main ethnic groups. Foreign ethnic groups are listed by nationality. It is not surprising that 

the Rohingya did not wish to be listed as “Bangladeshi”.  

The allocation of each of the declared 135 national races to one of the eight main ethnic 

groups is in my view not a justifiable interpretation or lawful implementation of the 1982 Law 

and 1983 Rules. The Law refers, in addition to the eight ethnic groups listed, to “…..ethnic 

https://www.burmalibrary.org/sites/burmalibrary.org/files/obl/docs/UNION_CITIZENSHIP_ACT-1948.htm
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/WPDf-rev.jpg
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/WPDf-rev.jpg
http://web.archive.org/web/20160430043728if_/http:/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF16/1931-Census-Tables.pdf
http://web.archive.org/web/20160430043728if_/http:/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF16/1931-Census-Tables.pdf
https://en.wikisource.org/wiki/The_Tribes_of_Burma
https://www.mmtimes.com/national-news/nay-pyi-taw/19137-census-data-could-shatter-transition-stability-says-official.html
http://networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/List-of-135-2014-Census.pdf
http://networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/List-of-135-2014-Census.pdf
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groups as have settled  in any of the territories included within the State as their permanent 

home from a period anterior to 1185 B.E., 1823 A.D…..”. Nick Cheesman has also noted 29: 

 “Furthermore, paragraph 9 of the 1983 procedures [Rules] recognises that apart from the 

 eight national races listed in the law, “many other races and ethnic groups that are taingyintha 

 [national race] remain,” hence the need to make determinations on which groups are 

 taingyintha and which are not.” 

For this reason, we might well ask on what authority were the135 assigned by the military 

regime which came to power in a coup in September 1988 as sub-groups to the eight ethnic 

groups, when quite clearly in most cases there is no ethnic or linguistic association. The 

“main” ethnic group Mon has only one sub-group called Mon. The other seven groups, 

though they claim to associate a number of sub-groups, also have a sub-group with the 

same name as the main group. Was this puzzling “straight-jacket” assignment lawful in 

terms of the 1982 Law and 1983 Regulations? Probably not; I suspect it only reflects the 

natural inclination of the regime at the time to impose ‘good order and military discipline’ to 

contain an intractable problem. Only the Courts could decide on the legality of the 

assignment, but there is little prospect of such a determination in present circumstances.  

C.   Our third port of call is paragraph 76. We are told: 

 “76. In February 2008, the Government published a proposed new Constitution and 

 announced that it would be subject to a referendum on 10 May 2008. The process had begun 

 in 2004 after a national convention was convened to work on a draft under Prime Minister 

 General Khin Nyunt’s “Roadmap to Democracy”. Daw Aung San Suu Kyi remained under 

 house arrest and the NLD refused to participate in the national convention.” 

The process of drawing up a new constitution did not start in 2004, but soon after the 1990 

Elections. The first phase ran from 1993 to 1996, when it was adjourned not long after Daw 

Aung San Suu Kyi had withdrawn the NLD delegation from the Constitutional Convention. It 

did not convene, but reconvened in 2004. General Khin Nyunt made this  clear in his speech 

of 30 August 2003 where he set out a 7-Point Roadmap to complete the drafting of a new 

constitution based on 104 Principles already presented in 1993. Can it really be true that the 

Mission was so ignorant of Myanmar’s constitutional process since the 1990 Elections? 

Most writers are agreed that Suu Kyi sought to negotiate the NLD’s attendance at the 

reconvened convention. As Peter Popham put it in his book on her life: 30 

                                                           
29 http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Nick-Cheesman.pdf  
30 “The Lady and the Peacock” - pages 364-5 by  Peter Popham, published by Rider 2011 

http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Citizenship_Rules_1983.pdf
https://www.burmalibrary.org/en/search/node/search-node?search_api_views_fulltext_op=AND&keyword=Roadmap.KN.htm&all-search-checkbox=all&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Btitle%5D=title&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_sub_title%5D=field_sub_title&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_source%5D=field_source&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_date_of_publication_ft%5D=field_date_of_publication_ft&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_topic%5D=field_topic&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bbody%3Avalue%5D=body%3Avalue&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_creator_author_ft%5D=field_creator_author_ft&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_date_of_entry_text_%5D=field_date_of_entry_text_&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_free_text_countries%5D=field_free_text_countries&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_adm_areas_of_mm%5D=field_adm_areas_of_mm&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_geographic_coverage_ft%5D=field_geographic_coverage_ft&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_subj_categories%3Aname%5D=field_subj_categories%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_type_obl%3Aname%5D=field_type_obl%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_free_text_language%5D=field_free_text_language&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_free_text_resource_type%5D=field_free_text_resource_type&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_format%5D=field_format&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_font%3Aname%5D=field_font%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_size_file%5D=field_size_file&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_text_quality%3Aname%5D=field_text_quality%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_document_file%3Afile%3Aname%5D=field_document_file%3Afile%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_remote_url%3Afield_author_website%3Aurl%5D=field_remote_url%3Afield_author_website%3Aurl&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_video_link%3Afield_video_em%3Avideo_url%5D=field_video_link%3Afield_video_em%3Avideo_url&sort_by=search_api_relevance&items
https://www.burmalibrary.org/en/search/node/search-node?search_api_views_fulltext_op=AND&keyword=Roadmap.KN.htm&all-search-checkbox=all&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Btitle%5D=title&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_sub_title%5D=field_sub_title&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_source%5D=field_source&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_date_of_publication_ft%5D=field_date_of_publication_ft&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_topic%5D=field_topic&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bbody%3Avalue%5D=body%3Avalue&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_creator_author_ft%5D=field_creator_author_ft&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_date_of_entry_text_%5D=field_date_of_entry_text_&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_free_text_countries%5D=field_free_text_countries&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_adm_areas_of_mm%5D=field_adm_areas_of_mm&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_geographic_coverage_ft%5D=field_geographic_coverage_ft&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_subj_categories%3Aname%5D=field_subj_categories%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_type_obl%3Aname%5D=field_type_obl%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_free_text_language%5D=field_free_text_language&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_free_text_resource_type%5D=field_free_text_resource_type&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_format%5D=field_format&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_font%3Aname%5D=field_font%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_size_file%5D=field_size_file&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_text_quality%3Aname%5D=field_text_quality%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_document_file%3Afile%3Aname%5D=field_document_file%3Afile%3Aname&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_remote_url%3Afield_author_website%3Aurl%5D=field_remote_url%3Afield_author_website%3Aurl&search_api_views_fulltext_fields%5Bfield_video_link%3Afield_video_em%3Avideo_url%5D=field_video_link%3Afield_video_em%3Avideo_url&sort_by=search_api_relevance&items
https://www.burmalibrary.org/sites/burmalibrary.org/files/obl/docs/KMWroadmap104.htm
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Nick-Cheesman.pdf
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 “According to the defector Aung Lynn Htut, the agreement was finally drafted in May 2004 

 and envisaged the NLD rejoining the National Convention that it had walked out of in 1996. 

 But when Khin Nyunt presented the agreement to Than Shwe, the latter got cold feet….. ‘

 Than Tun had to go back to Aung san Suu Kyi and tell her the deal was off’ an insider said. ‘

 Suu Kyi was furious “You all ought to wear htamein!” [the Burmese sarong] she exploded’, 

 using a favourite (sexist) Burmese insult, implying that the negotiators were as ‘untrustworthy 

 as women’.” 

D.  Our fourth port of call is paragraph 74: 

 “74. With a view to establishing a multi-party system, the SLORC briefly allowed the  

 registration of political parties. Parties registering included the National League for 

 Democracy (NLD), headed by Daw Aung San Suu Kyi, the daughter of Major General Aung 

 San, the Burmese independence leader and founder of the Tatmadaw, who was assassinated 

 in 1947, shortly before independence. Daw Aung San Suu Kyi had come to prominence 

 during the 8888 Uprising. However, in 1989, the authorities placed her under house arrest. In 

 the general election of 27 May 1990, the NLD won 60 per cent of the popular vote and, under 

 the electoral system in place, 80 per cent of parliamentary seats. The SLORC refused to 

 recognise the result and maintained governmental control, refusing to allow the legislature to 

 assemble.” 

I have seen no evidence that the State Law and Order Restoration Council (SLORC) only 

“briefly” allowed the registration of political parties. In the event some 235 political parties 

registered in due course under the Political Parties Registration Law of 27 September 1988 

which set no time limit for registration. 93 parties in the end put up candidates for the 

elections held on 27 May 1990. 

The statement that the SLORC “refused to recognise the result” is widely held, but this 

reflects political correctness, not historical accuracy. There is convincing evidence that the 

elections held in May 1990 were not to a governing Parliament, but to a Constituent 

Assembly. Though no specific legislation was ever issued defining the precise purpose of 

the elections, official speeches made and official press statements released in the months 

prior to the elections, following the publication of the Election Law on 31 May 1989, left no 

doubt that it was not the military government's intention to transfer political power to civilian 

hands immediately after the elections. 31   

Foreign correspondents covering the elections fully understood that the elections were only 

the first stage in the constitutional process set out by the SLORC. They reported prior to the 

elections that the task of the new Assembly was to draft a Constitution and arrange a 

                                                           
31 My updated detailed analysis of the 1990 Elections originally published in ISEAS Contemporary SE Asia 2007 

file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/pprl88.pdf
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF3/bp150510.pdf
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF3/bp150510.pdf
http://web.archive.org/web/20160424105521/http:/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF10/ana.pdf
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/1990-Elections.pdf
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national referendum, and most concluded that there would then need to be a second round 

of elections based on the new Constitution, if and when approved. Correspondents who 

covered the elections from within Burma were briefed in this sense by the Election 

Commission, which is why they reported as they did. The military regime had insisted on 

Constitution first, then transfer of power to the Government elected under the new 

Constitution. The NLD disagreed. They insisted on the transfer of power first, then the 

drafting of a Constitution.  

Although not granted a visa to cover the elections, that arch-critic of the military regime Bertil 

Lintner reported in the Far Eastern Review of 24 May 1990, only three days before the 

elections: "Diplomats say it might take up to two years to write a new constitution, have it 

approved by a referendum and then hold fresh elections. Meanwhile, the military will remain 

in power.” 

After the elections, the SLORC opened negotiations on this issue and reportedly reached an 

understanding with the NLD Central Executive Committee about the drafting of a new 

Constitution. This understanding was however rejected by the NLD rank and file, who 

demanded the immediate transfer of power. A paper written in 2008 by the then Hong Kong 

based academic Dr Kyaw Yin Hlaing set out the background.  Following the rejection, the 

NLD insisted that power must be transferred as a first step. Meetings of the Central 

Executive Committee in September 1990 (No. 5/90) and October 1990 (No. 6/90) continued 

to demand the convening of the Pyithu Hluttaw (National  Assembly) as soon as possible, 

the transfer of power on the basis of a provisional constitution which they alone had drafted, 

the subsequent drafting of a new Constitution and the holding of immediate talks. However 

shortly afterwards in an undertaking given on 27 October 1990 the NLD abandoned their 

insistence on the transfer of power first and signed up to the regime's plan for a National 

Convention under SLORC control to draft a new Constitution.  

Daw Aung San Suu Kyi (who was detained on 20 July 1989 and remained under house 

arrest until 10 July 1995) fully understood the position in this sense. In her interview in 

Rangoon on 1 July 1989 with Dominic Faulder of AsiaWeek, she told him: "Whoever is 

elected will have to draw up a Constitution that will have to be adopted before the transfer of 

power. They haven't said how the Constitution could be adopted. It could be through a 

referendum, but that could take months and months, if not years." ('Freedom from Fear' 

Chapter 17 Page 225)  

Suu Kyi herself has confirmed that she herself was not in favour of taking part in the 1990 

elections, reflecting her 1989 expressed conviction that the NLD could not participate in the 

http://www.isdp.eu/images/stories/isdp-main-pdf/2008_guo-ed_myanmar-burma-challenges-and-perspectives.pdf
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF2/nldint.pdf
http://www.mmtimes.com/index.php/national-news/1665-nld-members-back-tilt-at-by-elections.html
http://www.mmtimes.com/index.php/national-news/1665-nld-members-back-tilt-at-by-elections.html
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elections until the question of the transfer of power was resolved, which it never was. This 

does not mean that the elections were not a free and fair expression of the will of the 

people as repeated General Assembly Resolutions asserted in the 1990s.  But it is no 

surprise to any impartial observer why the SLORC refused to hand over power to the 

National League for Democracy, which won the elections by a landslide. In the 

circumstances, and with hindsight, a post-election confrontation was inevitable.  

The results of the elections were valid from 30 June 1990, when the final results were 

announced, until 8 March 2010 when it was decreed under Article 91 (b)  of the Pyithu 

Hluttaw (Lower House) Election Law  that: "As the Multi-party Democracy General Election 

held under the law repealed by this Law is no longer consistent with the Constitution, the 

results of the said election shall be deemed to be invalidated automatically." Khin Aung 

Myint, the Speaker of both the Upper House and the Union Parliament, acknowledged in an 

interview in the Yangon Times in October 2011 that: "I recognize the results of 1990 

election. I am explaining the details because I recognize the election results. This incident 

cannot be abolished and I have no intention to abolish." The NLD and Daw Aung San Suu 

Kyi have taken note of this acknowledgement and have said they are satisfied with this 

recognition, though Khin Aung Myint expressed no opinion about the purpose of the 

elections, whether to a Constituent Assembly or to a governing Parliament. 

Whatever view we may take about the purpose of the 1990 Elections, the issue remains for 

many controversial, but the simplistic assertions in the Mission Report do not reflect the 

historical reality. 

E.   Our fifth port of call on this voyage is paragraph 696. We read: 

“696. The Mission has examined documents, publications, statements, Facebook posts and 

audio-visual materials that have contributed to shaping public opinion on the Rohingya and 

Muslims more generally. The analysis demonstrates that a carefully crafted hate campaign 

has developed a negative perception of Muslims among the broad population in Myanmar. 

This campaign has been the work of a few key players: nationalistic political parties and 

politicians, leading monks, academics, prominent individuals and members of the 

Government. This hate campaign, which continues to the present day, portrays the Rohingya 

and other Muslims as an existential threat to Myanmar and to Buddhism.1509 In the case of 

the Rohingya, it has gone a step further. It is accompanied by dehumanising language and 

the branding of the entire community as “illegal Bengali immigrants”.  

While I accept unreservedly the existence of such a hate campaign and readily acknowledge 

that there are many in Myanmar, especially in Rakhine State, who regard (or say they 

regard) the Rohingya as “illegal Bengali migrants”, the authors of the Report do not provide a 

http://www.unscburma.org/Past%20resolutions.htm
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF5/ele.pdf
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF2/895.jpg
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF2/895.jpg
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF3/l3b.pdf
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF3/l3b.pdf
file:///C:/My%20Web%20Sites/Network%20Myanmar/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF3/l3b.pdf
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single quotation by those senior political and military personalities said to have crafted the 

hate campaign in which they describe, as alleged, “the entire community” of Arakan Muslims 

as “illegal Bengali migrants”. There is simply nothing on record, no evidence which could be 

produced in a court of law. On the other hand undue weight is given to an anti-Muslim 

diatribe, “a book published in the 1980s by an anonymous author”, as well as to anti-

Rohingya publication by two known Rakhine extremist published in New York. Their case, 

with respect, is simply not proven. 

F. Our sixth port of call is paragraph 705 and 706. We read: 

“705. On 1 June 2012 – three days after the murder of Ma Thida Htwe and two days before 

the killing of the 10 Muslims in Toungup – Zaw Htay, the spokesperson of the President of 

Mynmar, posted a statement on his personal Facebook account. He warned about the arrival 

from abroad of “Rohingya terrorists” from the Rohingya Solidarity Organization (RSO) and 

stated that the Myanmar troops would “completely destroy them”:  

Rohingya terrorists as members of the RSO are crossing the border into Myanmar 

with weapons. … Our troops have received the news in advance so they will 

completely destroy them [the Rohingya]. It can be assumed that the troops are 

already destroying them [the Rohingya]. We don’t want to hear any humanitarian or 

human rights excuses. We don’t want to hear your moral superiority, or so-called 

peace and loving kindness. (Go and look at Buthidaung, Maungdaw areas in Rakhine 

State. Our ethnic people are in constant fear in their own land. I feel very bitter about 

this. This is our country. This is our land.) (I’m talking to you, national parties, MPs, 

civil societies, who are always opposing the President and the Government.)” 

“706. Although this post was later deleted, the impact of a high official equating the Rohingya 

population with terrorism may have been significant ahead of the 2012 violence, which 

erupted a week later.”  

The source of this Facebook posting is given in Footnote № 1523 as “V-247”. I would need 

to see the full text to be 100% certain, but my assumption is that the two phrases in square 

brackets “[the Rohingya]” are interpretative insertions by the authors. Yet in the context in 

which they appear it is quite obvious that these two phrases are incorrect and that reference 

should have been made, not to Rohingya generally, but to the RSO, or Rohingya insurgents 

which the Myanmar authorities have invariably described as Rohingya terrorists and who 

were alleged to be operating in the border area at that time. A court of law would ask the 
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authors to explain these inaccurate clarifications. Were they inserted deliberately, or 

mistakenly?32 

G. Our seventh and final port of call on this voyage is paragraph 718. We read:  

 “In late February 2014, an international organization in northern Rakhine State, was ordered 

 to cease operations throughout Myanmar, shortly after releasing a statement on reported 

 killings  in Du Chee Yar Tan, Maungdaw Township.  The Presidential spokesperson 

 reportedly said it was “giving Bengalis preferential treatment”. The organization was not 

 permitted to return to Rakhine State until December 2014. 1541 This left many beneficiaries, 

 particularly in the north  of Rakhine State, without access to vital, and in some cases life-

 saving, health services. 

 “1541. In January 2014, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights issued a 

 press release calling on the Government to investigate credible reports that more than 40  Rohingya 

 had been killed in Du Chee Yar Tan between 9 and 13 January 2014. The Government strongly denied 

 these allegations.”  

Paragraph 718 and Footnote 1541 encapsulate all that is disingenuous and prejudiced in the 

Mission Report’s attitude to Myanmar.  

The report of UNHCHR Navi Pillay about alleged killings on two occasions (9 January 2014 

and 13/14 January 2014) in Du Chee Yar Tan village tract in Maungdaw Township [a sub-

district of Maungdaw District] was based on evidence mainly provided by an experienced 

and respected UN official based in Myanmar. The report resulted in immediate protests from 

the international community, notably the US and UK, who issued a joint statement. Inquiries 

were launched, but very little supporting evidence was found. A Beijing daily Quangming 

suggested that the US and UK “seem to have made a big mistake on this issue”. Western 

Ambassadors beat a path to Du Chee Yar Chan, a village tract or collection of villages. EU 

Ambassador Kobia was photographed talking to local residents, but heard, saw and reported 

nothing to corroborate Navi Pillay’s story. Though the report might have been “credible”, 

many concluded that it was not true.  

An Investigation Commission appointed by the Myanmar Government (with the already 

noted international scholar Dr Kyaw Yin Hlaing as its Secretary) issued its own summary 

report in English and a much longer report in Burmese which concluded that the reported 

killings on 9 January 2014 were pure fabrication. There had been no such incident, while the 

                                                           
32 For the most recent definitive official assessment of the extent of “illegality”, see Page 19+ of the Myanmar 
Institute of Strategic and International Studies background paper MISIS-Rakhine.pdf (networkmyanmar.org). 
Of five recorded waves of migration, only the fifth relating to post-independence arrivals is designated 
“illegal”; a minority. The Institute is under the control of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.  

http://web.archive.org/web/20160429043734/http:/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF16/UN-Report-Du-Chee-Yar-Tan.pdf
https://photos.state.gov/libraries/burma/895/pdf/maungdaw-joint-mission-statement_1172014.pdf
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Guang-Ming.pdf
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Guang-Ming.pdf
http://web.archive.org/web/20160501074234/http:/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF16/Summary-DCYT-Report.pdf
http://web.archive.org/web/20160501074234/http:/www.networkmyanmar.org/images/stories/PDF16/Summary-DCYT-Report.pdf
http://networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/MISIS-Rakhine.pdf
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only person killed some days later was a Police Sergeant. A Radio Free Asia report of 11 

March 2014 highlighted the complexity of the affair. 

The UN came under considerable pressure to explain what had really happened, but never 

did so. Their lack of transparency is regrettable. A UN sponsored Muslim conciliator was 

invited to stay in the village for several days, to gain the confidence of the villagers and to 

report on what he believed had happened. A full report was sent to the UN in New York. The 

conciliator confirmed that in his view there had indeed been a serious incident which started 

on or about 13 January 2014, during which a number of villagers at Du Chee Yar Tan had 

been assaulted during a routine military patrol, including an incident of rape. All this had so 

infuriated the villagers that the patrol had been attacked and a Police Sergeant killed. His 

body has never been recovered. 33  

A number of villagers who had been wounded during the police action sought medical 

treatment from the local Médecins sans Frontières clinic. This proved to be the “last straw”, 

to quote Presidential Spokesman Ye Htut. MSF had stated publicly that they had treated 

some 22 victims of the police action. It later emerged that they had been asked to provide a 

list of those injured, so that they could be interviewed about the murder of the Police 

Sergeant. MSF reportedly declined, as we say in the UK, “to help the police with their 

inquiries”. The reason they gave was “patient confidentiality”.  MSF operations in Rakhine 

State were suspended for several months.  

The Mission Report’s allegation that “an international organization in northern Rakhine State, 

was ordered to cease operations throughout Myanmar”, presumably referring to MSF, is not 

true. The Ministry of Health issued a denial published on 2 March 2004. It follows that 

beneficiaries were not deprived, as the Mission Report alleges, of vital MSF support 

anywhere outside Rakhine State, while within Rakhine State the Ministry of Health claimed 

they could fill the gap left by MSF’s departure, which proved to be only temporary. The 

cataclysmic deprivation of health services to the population in Rakhine State and elsewhere 

alleged in the Mission Report did not happen. 

Much has been published about the Du Chee Yar Tan incident, some of it quite spurious. On 

the Wayback Machine Network Myanmar website for events in 2014 there is a wealth of 

detailed reporting. The UN has at no time issued any clarification. The affair has been swept 

under the carpet. It is all too embarrassing for the UN and particular personalities. 

                                                           
33 The source of my information is a conversation with a senior UN official in 2014. 

https://www.rfa.org/english/news/myanmar/du-chee-yar-tan-03112014183922.html
https://www.rfa.org/english/news/myanmar/du-chee-yar-tan-03112014183922.html
https://edition.cnn.com/2014/03/04/world/asia/myanmar-rohingya-msf-fears/index.html
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/MH-MSF.pdf
https://www.mmtimes.com/national-news/9751-patients-in-limbo-as-govt-shuts-msf-clinics.html
https://www.mmtimes.com/national-news/9751-patients-in-limbo-as-govt-shuts-msf-clinics.html
http://web.archive.org/web/20160506061123/http:/www.networkmyanmar.org/rohingyamuslim-issues/events-during-2014
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The best commentary on this sorry affair was written by David Mathieson in his Tea Circle 

article of 2 April 2018 on “Burma’s Lost Rapport on Rights Protection”.  

 “Evidence of the Du Chee Yar Tan massacre has never been conclusively produced, with 

 many journalists and NGO researchers who first reported the allegations now privately 

 claiming it was misreported, and stating the UN OHCHR report contained numerous  

 inaccuracies. Former Burmese navy admiral, presidential advisor, and now member of 

 parliament, U Soe Thane wrote in his recent memoirs, Myanmar’s Transformation and U 

 Thein Sein: A Insider’s Account, that “a crime of killing of Muslim people in Duchira-Tan (Du 

 Chee Yar Tan) Village in Arakan State was meticulously faked up and put out on the 

 international front. We had to defend our innocence with the clear cut evidence.” The alleged 

 massacre has never been fully accounted for, nor have the likely mistakes made by the 

 media, rights groups and the UN been acknowledged or retracted.” 

As Thant Myint-U put it, with reference to Du Chee Yar Tan, in his already quoted latest 

book: 

 “The suspicion grew on Burmese social media, as well as in Naypyitaw, that Rohingya 

 leaders  and their supporters abroad were becoming adept at manufacturing ‘fake news’.” 

Concluding Thoughts 

These examples of historical bias and misinformation in the Mission Report are the 

responsibility of the Mission team, even if they personally did not draft the passages in 

question. They suggest strongly that they were gullible in assessing information presented to 

them, were lacking in intellectual curiosity about events, took a simplistic and superficial view 

of situations which were outside their realm of knowledge and were only too willing to 

accept, and if necessary inject an anti-regime interpretation. The extent to which I have 

shown that their “facts” were either not true or fabricated should give us all cause for 

concern.  

As the Mission Report is so frequently adduced as the main source of information in General 

Assembly and UN Human Right Council reports, it might be desirable for bodies like the 

International Court of Justice to probe the motives of the authors of the Mission Report about 

their use and presentation of inaccurate information. They might for example ask to see a 

copy of the document referenced in the Report at Footnote № 5130: “V-243” which could 

explain why former President Thein Sein was so deliberately misreported. 

For its part, the UN General Assembly in its Resolution of 27 December 2019 both 

welcomed “the work of the independent international fact-finding mission on Myanmar, 

including its final report and all its other reports” and at the same expressed deep concern 

https://teacircleoxford.com/2018/04/02/burmas-lost-rapport-on-rights-protection/
https://www.mmtimes.com/national-news/9840-official-findings-at-odds-with-un-report-on-du-chee-yar-tan.html
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/UNGA-RES-27122019.pdf
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“over the virulent and rapid spread of false news, hate speech and inflammatory rhetoric, in 

particular through social media, tolerated by the authorities of Myanmar”. There were no 

strictures, however, on the Mission’s responsibility for the diffusion of fake history, ill-

informed commentary and inflammatory presentation revealed in this and my previous 

articles. At the same time, the General Assembly are seemingly content to make their own, 

now ritual allegations, reiterating their grave concern in the same Resolution that: 

 “in spite of the fact that Rohingya Muslims lived in Myanmar for generations prior to the 

 independence of Myanmar, they were made stateless by the enactment of the 1982 

 Citizenship Law and were eventually disenfranchised, in 2015, from the electoral process/” 

The alleged effect of the 1982 Citizenship Law is a matter of considerable controversy. As 

Thant Myint-U puts in on Page 37 of his latest Book:  

 “In 1982, a new citizenship law was enacted. There is a common perception that the 

 Rohingya were stripped of their citizenship by this law. That’s not true…..” 

and proceeds to explain in detail why. Not even the Mission Report goes that far. 

Paragraphs 478 and 479 read: 

 “478. Despite this legal framework being discriminatory in intent and purpose, Rohingya are 

 not necessarily fully excluded from citizenship. First, the Constitution and the law provide that 

 whoever was a citizen at its entry into force would remain a citizen. Second, while it is 

 disputed whether the Rohingya are a “national race” and automatically entitled to full 

 citizenship on that ground, many Rohingya would have at least qualified for “associate” or 

 “naturalised” citizenship. Their third generation offspring would have been full citizens by now. 

 Third, the law also explicitly authorizes the State to confer any of the three categories of 

 citizenship on any person “in the interests of the State”.  

 

 “479. In reality, however, the law has been implemented in a discriminatory and arbitrary 

 manner…..”  

The key phrase here, to which the Mission Report should in my view have drawn particular 

attention but did not, is that “third generation offspring would have been full citizens by now”. 

What this in fact means is that, were it not for the chicanery, inertia and downright 

obstructionism of local Rakhine officials and central government, by 2020 most Rohingya 

would be full citizens already, since the initial qualification for both associate and naturalised 

citizenship goes back to 1948 and some applications for citizenship (in some cases only 

confirmation of a statutory right to citizenship) have now been outstanding since the 1950s. 

As General Ne Win put it in his speech of 8 October 1982:  
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 “Although there are three types of citizens at present - eh-naing-ngan-tha [associate], 

 naingngan-tha-pyu-khwint-ya-thu [naturalised] and pure [by birth] citizens, the grand 

 children of eh-naingngan-tha and naing-ngan-tha-pyu-khwintya-thu will become full 

 citizens.Then there will be only one type of citizen.” 

 

Given the significance of this statement of intent by General Ne Win, I attach at Annex B the 

full verbatim extract of the section of his speech where he repeatedly made clear the 

transitional nature of the new citizenship law. This was also overlooked in the August 2017 

Final Report of the Kofi Annan Advisory Commission which did not mention associate 

citizenship at all, an important feature of the 1982 law. 

 

While it is true that most Arakan Muslims have “lived in Myanmar for generations”, they did 

not describe their ethnicity as “Rohingya” until some years after independence. The 

migration of Bengali Muslims to Arakan during British rule accounted for the greater majority 

of today’s Rohingya, though they were certainly not “Rohingya” (that is, “Arakaners”) when 

they first arrived. Indeed, at the time of the 1931, 1953 and 1973 Censuses, the designation 

did not exist and Arakan Muslims were known and enumerated by other designations, which 

they accepted willingly. Some designations were indigenous, others not. 34 

 

One of our main questions concerning the Mission Report must surely be this: some of the 

inaccuracies and untruths are so blatant that we must ask whether it really is credible that 

the members of the Mission did not know. My answer, based on my 90 years’ personal 

experience of the human race, is quite simply that they did not know because they did not 

want to know. They did not bother to look at the text of the Panglong Agreement because 

they did not know what they might find. They did not ask to see the dossier at UN HQ in New 

York about the Du Chee Yar Tan affair because they were not interested in taking the heat 

off the Myanmar Government. They did not bother to read the statement of former President 

Thein Sein, which I had drawn to the attention of the Mission team, because they had 

already found a damning quotation from another source. They were, in short, conditioned by 

their determination to put the Myanmar Government in the worst possible light in relation to 

every incident and situation, cherry-picking only the materials which suited their agenda and 

ignoring the rest. The hall-mark of denialism. 

                                                           
34 The issue is explored in depth in my article at http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Exploring-the-
Issue-of-Citizenship-updated.pdf  

https://www.toaep.org/ops-pdf/10-tonkin
https://www.toaep.org/ops-pdf/10-tonkin
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Exploring-the-Issue-of-Citizenship-updated.pdf
http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/Exploring-the-Issue-of-Citizenship-updated.pdf
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As a result the Mission Report is, with respect to the historical background presented in the 

Report, a travesty of any pretence of alleged “independence”. For this the Mission Members, 

and they alone, must be held responsible.    

How this affects the truth and credibility of the dossier of 1,227 interviews handed over to the 

Independent Investigative Mission for Myanmar as a foundation for potential prosecution 

cases is open to debate. Some may argue that the rectification of these historical errors 

would be a largely academic exercise not in any way affecting the Mission’s conclusions in 

paragraph 1671 of their Report “on reasonable grounds” that: 

 “gross human rights violations and serious violations of international humanitarian law have 

 been committed in Myanmar since 2011 and that many of these violations undoubtedly 

 amount to the gravest crimes under international law.” 

The issue though is not whether we disagree with this conclusion, because most of us do 

not. But the international community in general, and the Independent Investigative Mission 

for Myanmar in particular, must ask themselves to what extent can they accept uncritically 

evidence collected by members of a Mission who have shown themselves to be less than 

honest in presenting the minimal but essential historical background to their enquiries. 

The Fact-Finding Mission a Victim of its own Hubris and of erratic UN Practice 

The Fact-Finding Mission was established by the Human Rights Council by Resolution 

A/HRC/RES/34/22 of 24 March 2017. Its mandate was: 

 
 “to establish the facts and circumstances of the alleged recent human rights violations by 

 military and security forces, and abuses, in Myanmar, in particular in Rakhine State, including 

 but not limited to arbitrary detention, torture and inhuman treatment, rape and other forms of 

 sexual violence, extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary killings, enforced disappearances, forced 

 displacement and unlawful destruction of property, with a view to ensuring full accountability 

 for perpetrators and justice for victims…..”  

 

In contrast to Commissions of Inquiry which are often mandated to make recommendations, 

the Fact-Finding Mission on Myanmar was not specifically asked to do so. However, current 

Guidance and Practice to Commissions of Inquiry and Fact-Finding Missions on international 

human rights and humanitarian law 35 do provide, even for Missions not specifically 

mandated, to make recommendations, although most of the examples quoted in the 

Guidance to illustrate this provision relate to Commissions of Inquiry and those few Fact-

Finding Missions mentioned made what would seem to be responsible recommendations 

                                                           
35 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/CoI_Guidance_and_Practice.pdf Geneva 2015 

https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/CoI_Guidance_and_Practice.pdf
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well within the terms of their mandates. The Mission on Myanmar, however, went overboard 

in making recommendations to all and sundry, urbi et orbi as it were  - notably to the 

Government of Myanmar which they knew would be rejected out of hand as Myanmar had 

refused to have anything to do with the Mission, as well as to the Security Council and 

General Assembly, some of whose Members made a ritual genuflexion of support, but failed 

to show much interest in any of the recommendations made. It was a classic case of hubris 

on the part of the Mission. But it was the Security Council, the General Assembly and the 

Human Rights Council which mischievously encouraged them in their hubristic endeavours. 

 

The Guidance issued states that: 

 

 “The recommendations contained in a commission/mission report should be carefully worded, 

 taking into consideration the mandate, the human rights situation, the actors to whom they are 

 addressed, their relevance to effect the necessary changes to improve the human rights 

 situation, and other issues, such as available resources and feasibility of implementation.” 

 

There was little likelihood that the recommendations made by the Mission in their detailed 

and subsequent reports, which ventured into the minefield of economic sanctions, would be 

adopted by any of the UN Member States, UN bodies and other organisations to whom they 

were addressed. To that extent, the Mission devoted much time and effort which was frankly 

a waste of resources. 

 

Mission Reports are normally presented to the mandating authority, in this case the Human 

Rights Council, but this Report was first presented in an unprecedented move to the Security 

Council at the request of nine of its members, for their own mainly domestic political 

reasons, despite opposition from China and Russia who were not able to exercise their veto 

on what was a procedural matter, namely approval of the agenda. 36 The Security Council is 

of course its own master, and can do what it likes, but in forcing this agenda on to the 

Security Council, the promotors have ensured that any subsequent Security Council action 

would almost certainly be vetoed.  A Pyrrhic victory, but the benefit of a short-term political 

splash was judged to be more important than effective longer-term action.  

 

As a result, “The Situation in Myanmar”, on which there was previously even in the Security 

Council a modest measure of cooperation, has been kicked into the long grass from where 

the ball has only recently been retrieved for informal but inconclusive “Consultations” among 

                                                           
36 Record of 8381st Meeting of the Security Council held on 24 October 2018 

http://www.networkmyanmar.org/ESW/Files/8381th-Meeting-UNSC.pdf
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Security Council members. Effective action in the Council itself is now most unlikely for the 

foreseeable future. 

 

Derek Tonkin 

 

Annex A 

ပြညထ် ောငစ်ုသမ္မတပမ္န်မ္ောန ငုင်ထံတော် 

န ငုင်ထံတော်သမ္မတဦးသ န်းစ န် ကလုသမ္ဂ္ဂဒကုခသညမ်္ ေားဆ ငုရ်ော 

မ္ဟောမ္ငး်ကက း Mr. Antonio Guterres ဦးထဆောငထ်သော 

က ယုစ်ေားလယှအ်ဖ  ွဲ့အေား လကခံ်ထတ ွဲ့ဆံ ု

နေပြညန်   ်ဇူလ ိုင ်၁၁ 

          ပြညန်  ငစ်ိုသမ္မ ပမ္ေမ်္ န ိုငင်နံ  ် န ိုငင်နံ  သ်မ္မ ဦးသ ေး်စ ေသ်ည ်

နေပြညန်  ်၌ န  ကရ်  နေနသ  ကိုလသမ္ဂ္ဂ ဒိုကခသညမ်္  းဆ ိုင ်  မ္ဟ မ္ငး်ကက း Mr. 

Antonio Guterres ဦးနဆ ငန်သ  က ိုယစ် းလ ယအ်ဖ  ွဲ့အ း ယနေ ေ့ေေံက ် (၁၁) ေ     င ်

နေပြညန်  ရ်   န ိုငင်နံ  သ်မ္မ အ မ္န်  ် သ ံမ္ေန်ဆ င ် ဧည်ေ့ခေး်မ္၌ လကခ် ံ

န  ွဲ့ဆံိုသည။် 
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           ိုသ ို ေ့န  ွဲ့ဆံို    င ် ကခ ငပ်ြညေ်ယရ်   စစန် းသင်ေ့ပြညသ်မူ္  း အန းက စစ၊ 

က ငပ်ြညေ်ယရ်   န  ွဲ့နပြ ငး်ပြညသ်မူ္  း မ္ မ္ ဆနဒအနလ  က ် ပြေလ် န းက စစန င်ေ့ 

 ခ ိုငပ်ြညေ်ယ ် အန းက စစ  ို ေ့က ို နဆ းနန းခ ေ့ကကသည။် န ိုငင်နံ  သ်မ္မ ကက းက 

သမ္ ိုငး်နကက ငး်အ   ဂ္ဂါလ မ္  း ဝငန်  ကလ် သညမ်္   (၁၉၄၈) ခိုန စ၊် 

လ  လ်ြ်န းမ္ ခင ် အဂ္ဂလ ြ်ေယခ်  ွဲ့မ္  းက လယယ်  လိုြ်က ိုင ်ေ ်

နခေါ်သ ငး်လ ပခငး်ပဖစန်ကက ငး်၊   ိုစဉ်က အလိုြ်အက ိုင ်နက ငး်မ္ ေသ်ပဖင်ေ့ မ္ပြေန်  ေ့   

အနပခခ နေ  ိုငသ်မူ္  းလညး်ရ  နကက ငး်၊ မ္ မ္   ို ေ့ ဥြနဒအ  (၁၉၄၈) ခိုန စမ်္  ိုငမ်္  

ပမ္ေမ်္ န ိုငင်သံ ို ေ့ န  ကရ်  သ ူမ္  န စြ်ါးက နမ္ းဖ  းသ ူ   ယမ္   းဆက ်(Third Generation) 

နပမ္းအဆင်ေ့က ိုသ  န ိုငင်သံ းအပဖစ ် လကခ်မံ္ညဟ်နူသ  ဥြနဒရ  နကက ငး်၊ 

 ခ ိုငပ်ြညေ်ယက် ို နလေ့လ ကကည်ေ့လျှင ် (၁၉၄၈) ခိုန စ ် မ္  ိုငမ်္   ဂ္ဂါလ မ္  းက 

နြါကဖ်  းလ သမူ္  း၊  နေ ကြ် ိုငး်  င ်  ိုဟငဂ်္  အမ္ညခ်၍ံ ခ ိုးဝငလ် သမူ္  း စသညပ်ဖင်ေ့ 

 ှုြ်န  းလ ကရ်  နကက ငး်၊ န ိုငင် ံညင်င မ္န်အးခ မ္း်မ္ှုက ိုြါ ငခ မ္း်နပခ ကလ် နကက ငး်၊ 

ဤက စစက ို က ိုင ် ယ ်ေ ် အနလးအေက ် း စဉ်းစ းလ ကရ်  ြါနကက ငး်၊ 

မ္ မ္   ိုငး် ငး်သ း မ္  းက ို   ဝေယ်မူ္ည ် ပဖစန်ကက ငး်၊   ိုငး် ငး်သ းမ္ဟို  ်  

ခ ိုးဝငလ် သည်ေ့   ိုဟငဂ်္  မ္  းက ို လကခ် ံေ ် မ္ညသ် ို ေ့မ္ျှ မ္ပဖစန် ိုငန်ကက ငး်၊ 

နေ ကဆ်ံိုးနပဖရ ငး်သည်ေ့ ေညး်လမ္း်မ္   ခ ိုးဝငလ် သည်ေ့   ိုဟငဂ်္  မ္  းက ို UNHCR သ ို ေ့ 

အြ်န ငံြ း ဒိုကခသည ် စခေး်အပဖစ ်   းရ   ေပ်ဖစန်ကက ငး်၊ UNHCR က 

နက းနမ္ းနစ င်ေ့နရ  ကန်ြး ေ ် ပဖစန်ကက ငး်၊    ယန ိုငင်ကံ လကခ်မံ္ညဆ် ိုလျှင ်
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ြ ို ေ့နြးမ္ညပ်ဖစန်ကက ငး်၊ ဤသညမ်္   ပြဿေ နပဖရ ငး်ေညး်က ို 

စဉ်းစ းနေပခငး်ပဖစန်ကက ငး်၊ ေယစ်ြ်န း  ဝေက်က းအ းလညး်  ခ ိုငပ်ြညေ်ယရ်   

ကိုလသမ္ဂ္ဂ အဖ  ွဲ့အစညး်မ္  းန င်ေ့   ိုငြ်ငည်  နှု ငး်လ က ် ရ  ြါနကက ငး် 

ရ ငး်လငး်နပြ ကက းသည။် 

       န ိုငင်နံ  သ်မ္မ  ဦးသ ေး်စ ေန် င်ေ့အ  ူပြည ် န းဝေက်က းဌ ေ ပြညန်  ငစ်ိုဝေက်က း၊ 

ေယစ်ြ်န း  ဝေက်က းဌ ေန င်ေ့  ပမ္ေမ်္ ေ့စကမ်္ှုဖ ံ ွဲ့ ငဖ  းန း ဝေက်က းဌ ေ ပြညန်  ငစ်ိုဝေက်က း၊ 

သမ္မ  ံိုးဝေက်က းဌ ေ(၁) ပြညန်  ငစ်ိုဝေက်က း၊ အလိုြ်သမ္ းဝေက်က းဌ ေန င်ေ့ 

လမူ္ှုဝေ ်မ္း်၊ ကယဆ်ယန် းန င်ေ့ပြေလ်ညန်ေ  ခ   းန း ဝေက်က းဌ ေ 

ပြညန်  ငစ်ိုဝေက်က း၊ န ိုငင်ပံခ းန းဝေက်က းဌ ေ ဒို  ယဝေက်က းန င်ေ့ 

ဌ ေဆ ိုင ် အကက းအက မ္  း  ကန်  ကက်ကသည။် 

 Thursday, July 12, 2012 - 14:15 

 

 Unofficial Translation 

President of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar U Thein Sein meets a Delegation 

led by Antonio Guterres 

Nay Pyi Taw, 11 July 2012 

This morning President U Thein Sein met a Delegation led by Antonio Guterres, UN High 

Commissioner for Refugees, at the Credentials Hall of the Presidential Palace in Nay Pyi 

Taw. 
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Matters discussed at the meeting included refugees from the fighting in Kachin State, the 

return of Kayin (Karen) migrant workers who wished to return home voluntarily and the 

situation in Rakhine State. 

The President said that Bengalis came to Myanmar because the British colonialists invited 

them in prior to 1948, when Myanmar gained independence from Britain, to work in the 

agricultural sector. Some Bengalis settled here because it was convenient for them to do so, 

and according to Myanmar law, the third generation of those who arrived before 1948 can be 

granted Myanmar citizenship. He added that, if we look at the situation in Rakhine State, 

some people are the younger generation of Bengalis who arrived before 1948, but some are 

illegal immigrants claiming to be Rohingyas and this threatens the stability of the State. The 

Government has been looking seriously for a solution to this problem. The country will take 

responsibility for its native people, but it cannot accept illegal immigrant Rohingya in any 

way. So in the end the solution to the problem is to set up refugee camps for them so that 

UNHCR can look after them. It a third country accepts them, we will send them there. He 

added that the Minister for Border Affairs has been negotiating with UN organizations in 

Rakhine State. 

Present at the meeting were: President U Thein Sein, the Union Ministers for Home Affairs, 

Border Affairs, Development, Labour and Social Welfare, and Relief and Resettlement, as 

well as the Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs and departmental heads. 
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Annex B 

This verbatim extract from General Ne Win’s speech of 8 October 1982 highlights in 

red the repeated assurances given in the speech that the arrangements for associate 

and naturalised citizenship were transitional and would be phased out over two 

generations, so that with the third generation there would be only one, full citizenship 

to which all citizens would be entitled. 

“There are three types of citizens at present as said earlier. There will be only one type in 

our country at some time in the future; that is there will be only citizens. What is known [as] 

eh-naing-ngan-tha [“associate citizens”] and naing-ngan-tha-pyu-khwint-ya-thu [“naturalised 

citizens”] will gradually disappear. How? A person classified as an eh-naing-ngan-tha at 

present if qualifications, I said earlier, are met. We cannot trust them fully. That is why one is 

called eh-naing-ngan-tha.  

“If the descendants of eh-naing-ngan-tha continue to be regarded as eh-naing-ngan-tha, 

they will never be in a position to enjoy the rights of citizens. I said earlier, that in view of 

what is happening at present, this eh-naing-ngan-tha is not trustworthy at present. As I said 

earlier one lives in Burma, one in Hong-Kong, and one lives in England and are engaged in 

bad business. However, this blood relation will more or less cease to exist at the time of his 

or her grandchildren. When the grandchild is given citizenship, he will, just like any other 

citizen, become a full citizen. Similarly, with the children, grandchildren and 

greatgrandchildren of a naing-ngan-tha-pyukhwint-ya-thu continue to be a naing-ngan-tha-

pyu-khwint-ya-thu? Will a naing-ngan-tha-pyu-khwint-ya-thu not be able to enjoy full rights? 

As I said earlier, his grandchildren will be given citizenship. Although there are three types of 

citizens at present eh-naing-ngan-tha, naingngan-tha-pyu-khwint-ya-thu and pure citizens, 

the grand children of eh-naing-ngan-tha and naing-ngan-tha-pyu-khwintya-thu will become 

full citizens. Then there will be only one type of citizen.  

“If the grandchildren of eh-naing-ngan-tha or a naing-ngan-tha-pyu-khwint-ya-thu are to 

become full citizens, the eh-naing-ngan-tha or naing-ngan-tha-pyu-khwint-ya-thu himself or 

herself, and his or her children and their children must live in our country correctly and must 

not misbehave. Only then can his or her grandchildren become citizens. As to action to be 

taken against them for misbehaviour, time limits, etc., are to be prescribed in Rules.  

“This is the first time we are taking action to enable those who have been in our country 

since before Independence to escape from a life of uncertainty about their own nationality. If 

necessary qualifications are met, they can live in our country; if they live correctly and 

properly, their grandchildren will become full citizens. What I would like to tell such persons 

https://www.burmalibrary.org/docs6/Ne_Win's_speech_Oct-1982-Citizenship_Law.pdf


 

31 
 

is that, in recognition of what we have done to enable them to be certain of their own 

nationalities, they should live correctly and properly. I would also like to tell our true citizens, 

the Burmese, that they should not treat such persons arrogantly, saying they came from 

abroad or they are guests, but should realise that one day they will become one with us and 

all will be travelling in the same boat.”  

 

 

 

 


